Supporting Information

Modified Indophenol Blue Method Enables Reliable Routine Quantification

of Photocatalytic Produced Ammonia in Aqueous Sulfite Electrolyte

Jingfu Sun#,^a Xiaoyu Zhang#,^a Jingwen Mu#,^a Xi Han,^a and Yaoguang Yu*^a

J. F. Sun, X. Y. Zhang, J. W. Mu, X. Han, Y. G. Yu

School of Materials,

Shenzhen Campus of Sun Yat-sen University,

No. 66, Gongchang Road, Shenzhen, Guangdong 518107, P. R. China

Email: yuyg5@mail.sysu.edu.cn

Keywords: ammonia quantification, sulfite sacrificial reagent, interference effect, photocatalysis, indophenol blue method

Table of Contents

Section 1. Details of chemicals and materials and sample characterizations1
Section 2. Comparative analysis of different ammonia quantification methods1
S2.1 Tolerance to chemical environments
S2.2 Real-time analytical capability6
S2.3 Quantification sensitivity7
S2.4 Quantification accuracy
S2.5 Experimental economy9
S2.6 Section summary9
Section 3. The failure of different ammonia quantification methods11
S3.1 Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) method11
S3.2 Ion chromatography (IC) method12
S3.3 Nessler's reagent method14
S3.4 Conventional indophenol blue (c-IB) method16
Section 4. Investigation of pretreatment agents based on reaction mechanism17
S4.1 Arrhenius acid-base theory17
S4.2 Redox reaction theory17
S4.3 Lewis acid-base theory
Section 5. Assessing the reactivity of KHSO ₅ based on thermodynamic calculations19
Section 6. Threshold analysis of redox ion pairs20
Section 7. Key influencing factors of the m-IB method21
S7.1 Strategic optimization of reagent types and stoichiometric ratios
S7.2 Investigation of reagent stability
S7.3 Impact of impurity ions23
S7.4 Interference on side reactions
References

Section 1. Details of chemicals and materials and sample characterizations

Quantification of ammonia by the Nessler's reagent method: Add 0.1 mL of Nessler reagent and 0.1 mL of a 500 g \cdot L⁻¹ potassium sodium tartrate solution to 2 mL of the sample solution. Subsequently, incubate the mixture in the dark at room temperature for 10 minutes. Finally, measure the absorbance at approximately 420 nm using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer.

Quantification of ammonia by the ion chromatography method: Ion chromatography method was performed on an ICS-600 instrument (ThermoFisher Scientific). The methanesulfonic acid solution was used as eluent with a flow rate of 1 ml min⁻¹. All the samples were manually injected to prevent ammonia interference in the air.

Quantification of ammonia by ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR) method.

Solution A: 50 μ L of 1 mM Maleic acid was used as the internal standard; Solution B: 50 μ L of DMSO-d₆ was used for a spin-lock field. Solution C: 50 μ L of 0.05M H₂SO₄ was used to regulate pH of solution. Solution A, B and C were added into 900 μ L of ammonia in 0.06M Na₂SO₃. After shaking up, 600 μ L of above mixed solution was added into a NMR tube.

Quantification of N_2H_4 by the Watt and Chrisp method: The specific experimental procedure involves adding 2 mL of hydrochloric acid, 20 mL of ethanol, and 0.4 g of DMAB to 2 mL of the sample solution, followed by thorough mixing. After incubating in the dark at room temperature for 15 minutes, the absorbance is measured at 457 nm using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer.

Section 2. Comparative analysis of different ammonia quantification methods in aqueous sulfite electrolyte

Drawing on a thorough review of photocatalytic ammonia synthesis research, we assess ammonia quantification methods from the following perspectives (Table S1). This section primarily compares ammonia quantification methods, including nuclear magnetic resonance method (NMR), ion chromatography method (IC), Nessler's reagent method (Nessler), conventional indophenol blue method (c-IB), and modified indophenol blue method (m-IB) developed in this work. The threshold in aqueous sulfite electrolyte (TASE) beyond which general ammonia quantification methods become invalid is established based on operational convenience, quantification reliability, and experimental economy. Operational convenience encompasses tolerance to chemical environments and real-time analytical capability. Quantification reliability primarily involves quantification sensitivity and quantification accuracy, especially regarding achievable detection limits and the veracity of results. Experimental economy refers to factors such as equipment and consumables cost. A fivedimensional evaluation system has been established based on the aforementioned features, with a maximum score of 10 points for each dimension, as shown in Figure S1. If any evaluation dimension scores are ≤ 6 , the method does not meet the threshold in aqueous sulfite electrolyte (TASE). This threshold acts as a practical benchmark for evaluating reliable ammonia quantification methods, focusing on operational convenience, quantification reliability, and experimental economy. Furthermore, it indicates the limitations of general ammonia quantification methods when applied to routine ammonia laboratory quantification in aqueous sulfite electrolyte. As details evidenced by the comparative analysis listed in Table S1 and the subsequent paragraphs, the final results are illustrated in Figure 1 of the article.

Comparison dimonsions	Sooring	Spacific aspects	Evolution oritoria	conv	m-IB				
Comparison dimensions	Scoring	Specific aspects		NMR	IC	Nessler	c-IB	(this work)	
			Primary ions (Na ⁺ SO ₃ ²⁻ S ²⁻) (5)	None (5)	$Na^+(0)$	$S^{2-}(0)$	$SO_3^{2-}(0)$	None (5)	
Tolerance to chemical environments	(10)	Ion interference	Potential ions (2)	Organic solvent (1)	None (2)	Metal cations hydrazine, carbonyl compounds (0)	None (2)	None (2)	
		pH range	Acidic (1) Neutral (1) Alkaline (1)	Neutral (1)	Neutral (1)	All (3)	Neutral Alkaline (2)	Neutral Alkaline (2)	
		sub score		(7) 🌣	(3) ♦	(3) ♦	(4) ♦	(9) 🌣	
Real-time analytical	(10)	Data acquisition time	Fast (3) Medium (2) Low (1)	Low (1)	Fast (3)	Medium (2)	Medium (2)	Medium (2)	
capability	(10)	Equipment availability	Easy (7) Moderate (2) Scarce (1)	Scarce (1)	Moderate (2)	Easy (7)	Easy (7)	Easy (7)	
		sub score		(2) ♦	(5) ♦	(9) 🌣	(9) 🌣	(9) 🌣	

Table S1. Evaluation framework for ammonia quantification methods in aqueous sulfite electrolyte.

Table S1. Continued.

Comparison dimensions	Scoring	Specific aspects	Evaluation criteria	conve	m ID			
	Scoring	Specific aspects	Evaluation enteria	NMR	IC	Nessler	c-IB	(this work)
Quantification	(10)	Detection limits	=0.2ppm (8)	Yes (8)	Yes (8)	Yes (8)	Yes (8)	Yes (8)
sensitivity	(10)		<0.2ppm (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	No (0)
		sub score		(10) 🌣	(10) 🌣	(8) 🌣	(8) 🌣	(8) 🌣
Quantification	(10)	Linear relationship	$R^{2}(=0.2ppm)$ (8)	0.999 (8)	0.999 (8)	0.999 (8)	0.999 (8)	0.999 (8)
accuracy	(10)		$R^{2}(<0.2ppm)(2)$	0.996 (1)	0.995 (1)	0.982 (0)	0.991 (0)	- (0)
		sub score		(9) 🌣	(9) 🌣	(8) 🌣	(8) 🌣	(8) 🌣
Experimental	(10)	Quantification	Equipment cost (8)	High (2)	Medium (4)	Low (8)	Low (8)	Low (8)
economy	(10)	cost	Consumables (2)	High (0)	Medium (1)	Low (2)	Low (2)	Low (2)
		sub score		(2) ♦	(5) ♦	(10) 🌣	(10) 🌣	(10) 🌣

(1) "(number)" refers to the scores assigned to each evaluation criteria.

(2) If the scores are greater than 7, the approach is deemed feasible; if they are less than 6, it is considered ineffective.

(3) " \heartsuit " indicates that the method is feasible, while \blacklozenge signifies that the method is ineffective.

(4) "Yes (8)" indicates that the detection limit can achieve 0.2 ppm, while "No (8)" signifies that the detection limit fails to reach 0.2 ppm. "Yes (2)" indicates that the detection limit can achieve <0.2 ppm, while "No (0)" signifies that the detection limit fails to reach <0.2 ppm.

S2.1 Tolerance to chemical environments

Tolerance to diverse chemical environments is crucial for evaluating the suitability of a method in photocatalytic or photoelectrochemical systems. Tolerance to chemical environments in aqueous sulfite electrolyte encompasses ion interference (primary and potential ion interference) and pH range (acidic, neutral, and alkaline). Tolerance to interference from primary ions, such as sodium ions, sulfate ions, and sulfide ions, which directly disrupt the quantitative determination of ammonia in aqueous system, accounts for 5 points. Tolerance to interference to interference from potential ions, such as metal ions or organic reagents introduced by various catalytic materials or electrolyte solutes, account for 2 points. The pH range is evaluated with 1 point each for acidic, neutral, and alkaline conditions. The chemical environment tolerance in TASE lies in the absence of reactions with the primary ions in the electrolyte, thereby enabling accurate quantification of ammonia.

While the Nessler's reagent method offers the broadest pH range (4 to 12) among various ammonia quantification methods, it may react with sulfide ions released from sulfide catalysts in photocatalytic systems, preventing accurate ammonia quantification.^[1] Additionally, the Nessler's reagent method is susceptible to interference from various metal cations (such as Fe³⁺, Co²⁺ etc.), hydrazine, carbonyl compounds, and other substances.^[2-3] Furthermore, Nessler's reagent components (K₂HgI₄) contain toxic mercury ions, posing safety challenges. In aqueous sulfite electrolyte, the inability to meet TASE due to reactions with primary ions prevents the Nessler's reagent method from achieving accurate quantification of ammonia. (Section 2.3 in Supporting Information). Regarding the IC method, aside from the risk of damaging expensive ion exchange columns in highly acidic or alkaline solutions or those containing certain organic solvents, its most critical flaw is interference from sodium and potassium ions.^[4] This interference causes the IC method to fail in meeting TASE and makes accurate quantification of ammonia in sodium (or potassium) sulfite electrolyte systems unattainable (Section 2.2 in Supporting Information). In comparison, the c-IB method, despite its strong chemical tolerance, involves a complex combination of oxidants, colorimetric agents, and catalysts, imposing multiple reaction constraints. On one hand, the c-IB method operates within a pH range of 7 -12, limiting its application to neutral and alkaline systems.^[2] On the other hand, the oxidant sodium hypochlorite reacts with the reducing sulfite ions in aqueous sulfite electrolyte, preventing the formation of the essential intermediate monochloramine (NH₂Cl), failing to meet TASE and thereby hindering accurate ammonia quantification (Section 2.4 in Supporting Information). Although the NMR method imposes more stringent chemical environment requirements, such as adjusting the sample pH to approximately 7 and incorporating deuterated reagents, it achieves TASE disregarding interference from primary ions and enables accurate quantification of ammonia in aqueous sulfite electrolyte from the view of tolerance to chemical environments.^[4-5]

In summary, regarding tolerance to chemical environments, the NMR method scores a total of 7 points because it does not react with primary ions and is rarely affected by interference from potential ions; however, it is only applicable in neutral systems. In contrast, other conventional methods fail to meet the TASE. The c-IB method, despite tolerance to interference from potential ions, scores only 4 points due to its reaction with the primary ion sulfite and its limited applicability to neutral and alkaline systems. The IC method is also free from potential ion interferences, scores 3 points because it reacts with the primary ion sodium and is restricted to only neutral systems. Although the Nessler's reagent method is adaptable to acidic, neutral, and alkaline systems, it scores only 3 points due to its reaction with the primary ion sulfide and its susceptibility to interference from various metal ions, hydrazine, carbonyl compounds, and other potential ions.

Comparison sequence: NMR (7) > TASE > c-IB (4) > Nessler (3) \approx IC (3)

S2.2 Real-time analytical capability

Real-time analytical capability is crucial for rapid response, adjustment of reaction conditions, and experimental process monitoring. Real-time analytical capability in aqueous sulfite electrolyte encompasses data acquisition time (fast: 3 points, medium: 2 points, slow: 1 point) and equipment availability (easy: 7 points, moderate: 2 points, scarce: 1 point). The TASE in this regard refers to the simplicity of equipment availability.

Although the NMR method offers notable advantages in ¹⁴N and ¹⁵N isotope analysis, its lengthy data acquisition time (requiring up to 10 hours for detecting 10 μ M ¹⁴N without optimization), data retrieval complexity, and data processing challenges significantly limit its real-time analytical capabilities.^[5-6] Furthermore, due to the scarcity of NMR equipment, the difficulty of real-time analytical capability is significantly increased, preventing it from meeting TASE standards and rendering it unsuitable as a routine laboratory method for ammonia quantification.^[7] Although the IC method can deliver highly reliable analytical results and, compared to the lengthy data acquisition time of the NMR method, completes data collection in just several minutes, its scarcity of equipment prevents it from meeting TASE, severely limiting its capability as a real-time analytical method at the laboratory scale.^[8] In contrast, colorimetric methods such as Nessler's reagent and c-IB methods, due to their operational

convenience and rapid result acquisition, meet TASE and represent the most suitable methods for routine laboratory ammonia quantification.^[9-10]

In terms of real-time analytical capability, colorimetric methods (c-IB and Nessler) achieve a comprehensive score of 9 points, meeting the TASE, despite their relatively longer data acquisition time, due to their ease of equipment availability. In contrast, IC and NMR methods fail to meet the TASE. Despite the IC method having the shortest data acquisition time, scores only 5 points due to its relative equipment scarcity, hindering its application in real-time analysis. The NMR method scores only 2 points, as it not only has the most extended data acquisition time but also presents the most challenging equipment availability for the vast majority of researchers.

Comparison sequence: c-IB (9) \approx Nessler (9) > TASE > IC (5) > NMR (2)

S2.3 Quantification sensitivity

Quantification sensitivity refers to the ability of a quantification method to identify the minimum concentration, serving as a core metric for evaluating method performance. Quantification sensitivity in aqueous sulfite electrolyte refers to the level of the detection limit. Summarized from literature^[11] that detection limits of ammonia concentration can be categorized into two conditions: a detection limit of 0.2 ppm (8 points) and a detection limit ≤ 0.2 ppm (2 points). TASE refers to the achievement of a detection limit of 0.2 ppm for ammonia.

The NMR and IC methods, benefiting from the advanced nature of large-scale testing equipment, hold an objective advantage in sensitivity. In photocatalytic ammonia synthesis systems, the NMR and IC methods can achieve detection limits below 0.2 ppm, whereas colorimetric methods such as c-IB and Nessler's reagent methods are generally effective only at detection limits above 0.2 ppm.^[11] However, advancements in photocatalytic ammonia synthesis, particularly with catalytic material systems like PML-Cu, NH₂-MIL-125@Co(OH)2@ZIF-8 and so on, enable yields above 0.2 ppm (Table S2), ensuring that the detection limits of all four methods meet the minimum standard (TASE) for ammonia quantification.

 Table S2.
 Summary of various ammonia quantification methods used in different

 photocatalytic ammonia synthesis systems

Photocatalyst	Reaction medium	NH3 yield (ppm)	Quantification method	ref
PML-Cu	ethylene glycol	3.4	Nessler+IC+NMR(¹⁵ N)	[12]
NH ₂ -MIL-125 @Co(OH)2@ZIF-8	Ultrapure water	13.9	IB+Nessler+NMR(¹⁵ N)	[13]
FePc-POFs	Methanol	6.2	IB+NMR(¹⁵ N)	[14]
2 wt% B/TiO ₂	A_2SO_4 (A = Li, Na, and K), Ethanol	0.7	Nessler+IC+NMR(¹⁵ N)	[15]
$B/g-C_3N_4$	Na ₂ SO ₃	7.9	IB+IC+NMR(¹⁴ N+ ¹⁵ N)	[16]
P-Fe/W ₁₈ O ₄₉	Na ₂ SO ₃	0.3	$IC+NMR(^{14}N+^{15}N)$	[17]
Fe-SA/WO _{2.72-x}	Ultrapure water	1.6	Selective electrodes+IC+IB+NMR(¹⁵ N)	[18]
FeCo ₂ O ₄	Methanol	0.4	IC+NMR(¹⁵ N)	[19]
HMOF(Fe ^{II} /Fe ^{III})	K_2SO_3	0.3	IC	[20]
Ultrafine Cu ₂ O	Ultrapure water	11.6	IC+NMR(¹⁵ N, IB)	[21]

In summary, regarding quantification sensitivity, the NMR and IC methods achieve detection limits below 0.2 ppm, earning a comprehensive evaluation score of 10. In contrast, colorimetric methods, including c-IB and Nessler methods, demonstrate detection limits of 0.2 ppm, achieving a score of 9. All methods meet the TASE and satisfy the lower detection threshold for ammonia in conventional systems.

Comparison sequence: NMR (10) \approx IC (10) > c-IB (8) \approx Nessler (8) > TASE

S2.4 Quantification accuracy

Quantification accuracy, which pertains to the accuracy and consistency of measurement results, is a critical metric for evaluating analytical methods. Quantification accuracy in aqueous sulfite electrolyte is evaluated based on the linear correlation coefficient (R^2) of calibration curves. For detection limits = 0.2 ppm (8 points), $R^2 \ge 0.999$ is required. For detection limits ≤ 0.2 ppm, the scoring criteria are: $R^2 \ge 0.999$ (2 points), $0.999 > R^2 \ge 0.995$ (1 point), and $R^2 < 0.995$ (0 point).TASE in this part denotes measurement systems demonstrating a detection limit of 0.2 ppm with linear correlation coefficients (R^2) ≥ 0.999 under standard analytical conditions.

The NMR and IC methods, leveraging their advanced technological features, exhibit adequate precision in trace-level detection scenarios compared to laboratory-scale colorimetric methods such as c-IB and Nessler's reagent methods. For ultratrace ammonia detection (< 0.2 ppm), the NMR and IC methods demonstrate acceptable analytical accuracy, with R² values of 0.996 and 0.995, respectively, and 95% confidence intervals. ^[22] In comparison, colorimetric

methods using Nessler's reagent and the c-IB methods exhibit R² values of 0.982 and 0.991, respectively, with 90% confidence intervals.^[11,23] However, at higher ammonia concentrations, all four conventional ammonia quantification methods achieve an R² of 0.999 with 99% confidence intervals, surpassing the TASE and enabling accurate measurement.^[11]

In terms of quantification accuracy, the NMR and IC methods achieve a comprehensive score of 9 points, as they exhibit a linear correlation coefficient (R^2) \geq 0.999 for detection limits of 0.2 ppm but show slight limitations ($R^2 > 0.995$ but < 0.999) at detection limits \leq 0.2 ppm. Similarly, colorimetric methods (c-IB and Nessler) score 8 points, meeting the requirement for $R^2 > 0.999$ of 0.2 ppm but demonstrating reduced precision at extremely low concentrations. All methods exceed the TASE, fulfilling the required quantification accuracy.

Comparison sequence: NMR (9) \approx IC (9) > c-IB (8) \approx Nessler (8) > TASE

S2.5 Experimental economy

Experimental economy is a critical consideration in experimental design. Experimental economy in aqueous sulfite electrolyte encompasses equipment cost (high: 8 points, medium: 4 points, low: 2 points) and consumables cost (high: 2 points, medium: 1 point, low: 0 points). TASE in this dimension is defined as the equipment cost falls into the low-cost category.

The NMR method incurs prohibitive operational costs, including expensive deuterated reagents and cryogenic cooling systems, failing to reach TASE and rendering it impractical for routine laboratory detection.^[24] The IC method, while exhibiting lower capital costs than NMR method, still requires moderate equipment cost and incurs recurrent consumable expenses (e.g., chromatography columns), thus failing TASE compliance.^[7-8] In contrast, colorimetric methods (e.g., Nessler's reagent and c-IB methods) demonstrate minimal equipment cost and superior experimental economy, fully satisfying TASE as the primary approach for routine ammonia quantification in laboratory.^[25]

In terms of experimental economy, colorimetric methods (c-IB and Nessler) achieve a perfect score of 10 points, due to their minimal equipment and consumables costs. In contrast, the IC and NMR methods fail to meet the TASE. The IC method scores 5 points, with medium costs for both equipment and consumables. The NMR method scores only 2 points, as it involves expensive equipment and high-cost consumables.

Comparison sequence: c-IB (10) \approx Nessler (10) > TASE > IC (5) > NMR (2)

S2.6 Section summary

Comprehensive comparative analysis across five evaluation dimensions (tolerance to

chemical environments, real-time analytical capability, quantification accuracy, quantification sensitivity and experimental economy) reveals that nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) method and ion chromatography (IC) method fail to meet the threshold in aqueous sulfite electrolyte (TASE) due to lack of operational convenience (limited chemical environments tolerance and real-time analytical capability) and experimental economy, despite demonstrating acceptable quantification reliability. While colorimetric methods balance operational convenience and experimental economy, the Nessler's reagent method exhibits inadequate chemical tolerance in sulfide-catalyst systems due to S^{2–} interference. Though the conventional indophenol blue (c-IB) method avoids this limitation, its sulfite reactivity compromises tolerance to chemical environments. The modified IB (m-IB) method, which involves the controlled introduction of oxidants to neutralize sulfite to unavailing levels, overcomes limitations of Nessler's reagent method while retaining the benefits, such as reduced experimental uncertainty and lower health risks for operators. This establishes the modified indophenol blue method exceeding the threshold for reliable routine laboratory ammonia quantification in aqueous sulfite electrolytes.

Section 3. The failure of different ammonia quantification methods in aqueous sulfite electrolyte

NMR, IC, and colorimetric methods (c-IB and Nessler's reagent methods) are presently the most widely used techniques for quantifying ammonia. Each method has distinct advantages and disadvantages, depending on the specific application. However, in aqueous sulfite electrolyte, each of these methods exhibits significant limitations, rendering them unsuitable as routine laboratory methods for ammonia quantification. Details are discussed in this section.

S3.1 Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) method

As an advanced method for quantitative analysis of ammonia content, the NMR method is regarded as one of the most accurate methods for isotopic-labeling ammonia quantification due to its capability to effectively differentiate between ¹⁴NH₄⁺ and ¹⁵NH₄⁺ by splitting the ammonium proton signals into a triplet (J = 52 Hz) peaks and a doublet (J = 72 Hz) peaks, respectively.^[24] In photocatalytic and photoelectrochemical systems, the NMR method exhibits a detection limit for ammonia below 0.2 ppm, demonstrating acceptable quantification sensitivity and accuracy.^[11] However, when the ammonia production in the reaction system falls below 0.2 ppm, the sensitivity, which is proportional to the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) and inversely proportional to the acquisition time, requires prolonged NMR acquisition.^[26] This leads to a sharp decline in SNR, severely interfering with NMR signals and reducing sensitivity

(Figure S1).^[6,27] Moreover, longer acquisition times, spanning several hours, increase the risk of false positives, compromising operational convenience.^[6] Additionally, expensive spectrometers are essential to meet sensitivity requirements.^[4] The NMR method also demands specific chemical environmental conditions; maintaining a pH around 7 is crucial for ammonia stability and accurate quantification.^[11,28] In aqueous sulfite electrolyte, the need for specialized high-end equipment, expensive deuterated reagents, and liquid nitrogen for cooling further restricts the use of the NMR method^[25], thus excluding it as a routine laboratory method for ammonia quantification.



Figure S1. The phenomenon of poor signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) in ¹H-NMR spectra. A) ¹H-NMR spectra of Ag₂O-Au-685 nanocages.^[26] and B) Mo-doped $W_{18}O_{49}$ ultrathin nanowires.^[27]

S3.2 Ion chromatography (IC) method

Ion chromatography (IC) is a method that utilizes the ionic property of substance for separation and detection, making it a common method for ammonia quantification.^[29] The IC method demonstrates both commendable quantification accuracy and sensitivity.^[11] Additionally, unlike the NMR method, which requires prolonged data acquisition, the IC method can deliver quantitative results in a short time, offering acceptable real-time analytical capabilities.^[29] However, from an equipment perspective, the IC method exhibits limitations in terms of experimental economy and operational convenience.^[8,30] A common interference in the IC method arises from sodium and potassium ions, whose retention times are similar to that of ammonia, complicating separation.^[31] Furthermore, due to the currently low ammonia production rates in photocatalysts, which are significantly lower than the cation concentrations in electrolytes, accurate quantification of ammonia remains unachievable (Figure S2 A). In aqueous sulfite electrolyte, the detection limit for ammonia is determined to be 20 - 40 ppm,

which is notably higher than the ammonia yields achievable in current photocatalytic ammonia synthesis systems. Additionally, the linear correlation coefficient of approximately 0.93 fails to meet the required accuracy standards (Figure S2 B–D). Consequently, the IC method is unsuitable for photocatalytic ammonia synthesis experiments in aqueous sulfite electrolyte.



Figure S2. Failure phenomena of ammonia quantification using sodium sulfite solution as the background in the ion chromatography (IC) method. A) The normalized results of different concentrations of ammonia standard solutions (1000, 600, 400, 200, 100, 60, 40, 20 ppm) measured by ion chromatography method. B–D) The fitting standard curves based on this data.

The raw data for IC method quantification of varying ammonia concentrations are liested in Table S3.

Table S3. Raw data related to standard ammonia solution concentrations determined by ion chromatography method.

Concentration of Standard Solution	Ion Chromatography Results	Peak Area
(ppm)	(ppm)	(Na ⁺)
1000	643.74	49.847
600	484.09	50.818
400	352.53	49.758
200	251.56	49.315

100	27.66	48.174
60	8.43	49.399
40	1.1	49.815
20	0.37	49.531

S3.3 Nessler's reagent method

The Nessler's reagent method is widely used for determining the ammonia content in samples.^[8] This method is based on the principle of the reaction between ammonia and the Nessler's reagent, which produces a yellow or brown (at high concentrations) precipitate, serving as a standardized reagent for ammonia quantification in samples. The specific chemical reaction involved is as follows:

 $NH_{4}^{+}(aq) + 4[HgI_{4}]^{2-}(aq) + 80H^{-}(aq) \rightarrow 2Hg_{2}NI \cdot H_{2}O(l) + 14I^{-}(aq) + 8H_{2}O(l)$ (S1)

The Nessler's reagent method combines the operational convenience and experimental economy typical of colorimetric techniques.^[7] Compared to the NMR and IC methods, which are limited to accurate quantification within a pH around 7, Nessler's reagent offers a broader pH range of 4 - 12.^[2] However, its tolerance to chemical environments is significantly compromised due to interference from various cations such as Fe³⁺, Co²⁺, and Ni²⁺, as well as sulfide ions potentially released in sulfide photocatalytic systems, thereby preventing accurate quantification of ammonia.^[32] Additionally, the presence of toxic mercury in Nessler's reagent further restricts its application.^[29] Moreover, in systems with various aldehyde sacrificial agents, the Nessler's reagent method exhibits significantly higher ammonia yields compared to other methods, suggesting potential interference with other sacrificial agent systems.^[3, 33-34] While the Nessler's reagent method demonstrates good linearity in pure water, its accuracy is significantly compromised, or even entirely invalidated, in aqueous sulfite electrolyte (Figure S3). Consequently, due to these limitations, the Nessler's reagent method cannot be employed as a routine laboratory method for ammonia quantification in aqueous sulfite electrolyte.



Figure S3. UV-visible absorption spectra of ammonia standard solutions (0.2 - 8 ppm) treated with Nessler's Reagent method: A–B) ultrapure water as background and corresponding calibration curve, C–D) addition of sodium sulfite post-coloration with ultrapure water background and corresponding calibration curve, E–F) sodium sulfite as background and corresponding calibration curve.

S3.4 Conventional indophenol blue (c-IB) method

Compared to methods such as NMR and IC, colorimetric methods (Nessler's reagent and conventional Indophenol Blue methods) are the most commonly used methods for ammonia quantification in the field of ammonia synthesis due to their operational convenience and experimental economy.^[35] In recent years, the c-IB method has gained increasing preference over Nessler's reagent method among researchers.^[9] While the Nessler's reagent method is susceptible to interference from various ions such as sacrificial agents, cations, and aldehydes, the c-IB method demonstrates a certain degree of chemical environmental tolerance, particularly within specific pH ranges.^[2] In aqueous sulfite electrolyte, the c-IB method fails due to the reaction between sulfite and the strong reducing agent sodium hypochlorite (Figure S4). However, through the synergistic action of multiple specific reagents and appropriate pretreatment of the test solution, excess sulfite can be neutralized without compromising ammonia products, enabling accurate quantification of ammonia. Consequently, the c-IB method is rendered impractical for detecting ammonia in aqueous sulfite electrolyte, owing to the constraints previously outlined.



Figure S4. Comparison of ammonia quantification phenomena using sodium sulfite solution as background solutions in c-IB and m-IB methods.

Section 4. Investigation of pretreatment agents based on reaction mechanism

S4.1 Arrhenius acid-base theory

Based on Arrhenius acid-base theory, this method intended to neutralize excess sulfite using sulfuric acid. However, as indicated by the absorption peaks, compared to the results obtained with potassium monopersulfate treatment, the use of sulfuric acid for neutralization resulted in extremely low absorption intensity and a non-linear relationship (Figure S5). Therefore, employing sulfuric acid as a pretreatment fails to achieve accurate quantification of ammonia.



Figure S5. A) UV-visible absorption spectra obtained via the c-IB method after pretreatment with dilute sulfuric acid. B) Corresponding external standard curves.

S4.2 Redox reaction theory

Based on redox reaction theory, the self-sacrificial oxidation strategy using NaClO as a pre-treatment oxidizer was then explored. Sulfite ions $(SO_3^{2^-})$ are oxidized to sulfate ions $(SO_4^{2^-})$, while chlorine in sodium hypochlorite (NaClO) is reduced, demonstrating their roles as reductant and oxidant respectively. However, in addition to reacting with $SO_3^{2^-}$, excess hypochlorite (ClO⁻) may follow the breakpoint chlorination mechanism, reacting with ammonium ions (NH₄⁺) (Reaction S2). In this mechanism, ammonia initially reacts with active chlorine (ClO⁻) to form chloramine species (e.g., monochloramine, dichloramine, and trichloramine) and ultimately producing nitrogen gas, leading to underestimated or even undetectable ammonia yields due to the failure to form indophenol blue.^[36] Besides, this strategy involves complex reaction pathways, violating Principle (iv) of reaction pathway controllability.

$$2NH_{3} \cdot H_{2}O(l) + 3ClO^{-}(aq) \rightarrow N_{2}(g) + 5H_{2}O(l) + 3Cl^{-}(aq)$$
(S2)

S4.3 Lewis acid-base theory

Based on Lewis acid-base theory, $KMnO_4$ could act as an oxidant. However, by comparing the UV-Vis absorption spectra of the reaction reagents and electrolyte components, it was observed that the absorption wavelength of $KMnO_4$ is close to that of ammonia at 525 nm, which would interfere with the ammonia detection results (Figure S6). Therefore, $KMnO_4$ cannot be used as a pretreatment agent in this system.



Figure S6. UV-visible absorption spectra of the components of IB method and oxidants of AOP method.

Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), another common AOP oxidant, aims to eliminate sulfite interference in a mild and effective oxidation environment (Reaction S3).^[37] However, commercial H₂O₂ solutions (3% - 30% concentration) gradually decompose into water and oxygen during storage. This method suffers from stability issues, violating Principle (iii).

$$SO_{3}^{2-}(aq) + H_{2}O_{2}(l) \rightarrow SO_{4}^{2-}(aq) + H_{2}O(l)$$
(S3)

Section 5. Assessing the reactivity of KHSO₅ based on thermodynamic calculations

The method for calculating the Gibbs free energy of the reaction between sulfite ions (SO_3^{2-}) and peroxymonosulfate ions (HSO_5^{-}) is described below.

$$HSO_{5}^{-}(aq) + 2H^{+} + 2e^{-} \rightarrow HSO_{4}^{-}(aq) + H_{2}O(l) \qquad E^{0} = + 1.82 V (vs. NHE) (S4)^{[38]}$$

$$S_{2}O_{8}^{2}^{-}(aq) + 2H^{+} + 2e^{-} \rightarrow 2HSO_{4}^{-}(aq) \qquad E^{0} = + 2.12 V (vs. NHE) (S5)^{[39]}$$

$$S_{2}O_{8}^{2}^{-}(aq) + 2e^{-} \rightarrow 2SO_{4}^{2}^{-}(aq) \qquad E^{0} = + 2.01 V (vs. NHE) (S6)^{[39]}$$

$$HSO_{5}^{-}(aq) + H^{+} + 2e^{-} \rightarrow SO_{4}^{2}^{-}(aq) + H_{2}O(l) \qquad E^{0} = + 1.76 V (vs. NHE) (S7)$$

$$2\Delta G_{57}^{0} = 2\Delta G_{54}^{0} - \Delta G_{55}^{0} + \Delta G_{56}^{0}$$
According to $\Delta G^{0} = -nEF$, $2E_{57}^{0} = 2E_{54}^{0} - E_{55}^{0} + E_{56}^{0}$, $E_{57}^{0} = + 1.76 V (vs. NHE)$

$$H_{2}O(l) \rightarrow H^{+} + OH^{-} \qquad (S8)$$

$$\Delta G^{0} = -RTlnK_{w}, K_{w} = 1 \times 10^{-14} (298K), \Delta G^{0} = 79.9 kJ \cdot mol^{-1}$$

$$SO_{4}^{2}(aq) + H_{2}O(l) + 2e^{-} \rightarrow SO_{3}^{2}(aq) + 2OH^{-} \qquad E^{0} = -0.93 V (vs. NHE) (S9)^{[39]}$$

$$HSO_{5}^{-}(aq) + SO_{3}^{2}(aq) \rightarrow 2SO_{4}^{2}(aq) + H^{+} \qquad (S10)$$

$$\Delta G_{510}^{0} = \Delta G_{57}^{0} + 2\Delta G_{58}^{0} - \Delta G_{59}^{0}$$

The method for calculating the Gibbs free energy of the reaction between ammonium ions (NH_4^+) and peroxymonosulfate ions (HSO_5^-) is described below.

$$HSO_{5}^{-}(aq) + H^{+} + 2e^{-} \rightarrow SO_{4}^{2-}(aq) + H_{2}O(l) \qquad E^{0} = + 1.76 V (vs. NHE) (S7)$$

$$H_{2}O(l) \rightarrow H^{+} + 0H^{-} \qquad (S8)$$

$$N_{2}(g) + 6H^{+} + 2H_{2}O(l) + 6e^{-} \rightarrow 2NH_{4}OH(aq) \qquad E^{0} = + 0.092 V (vs. NHE) (S11)^{[39]}$$

$$HSO_{5}^{-}(aq) + 2NH_{4}^{+}(aq) \rightarrow N_{2}(g) + SO_{4}^{2-}(aq) + H_{2}O(l) + 7H^{+} + 4e^{-} \qquad (S12)$$

$$\Delta G_{S12}^{0} = \Delta G_{S7}^{0} + 2\Delta G_{S8}^{0} - \Delta G_{S11}^{0}$$

$$\Delta G_{S12}^{0} = -2E_{S7}^{0}F - 2 \times 7.99 \times 10^{4}J \cdot mol^{-1} + 2E_{S11}^{0}F, \Delta G_{S12}^{0} = -481.72 \, kJ \cdot mol^{-1}$$



Section 6. Threshold analysis of redox ion pairs

Figure S7. Comparative analysis of UV-Vis absorption spectra and calibration curves using m-IB and c-IB methods in aqueous sulfite electrolyte at varying concentrations: A-B) 0.06 mol·L⁻¹ Na₂SO₃, C-D) 0.012 mol·L⁻¹ Na₂SO₃, E-F) 0.0024 mol·L⁻¹ Na₂SO₃.

Section 7. Key influencing factors of the m-IB method

The effectiveness of the (m-IB) modified indophenol blue method is influenced by multiple reaction conditions, including strategic optimization of reagent types and stoichiometric ratios, reagent concentration, precise execution of pretreatment steps, investigation of reagent stability, impact of impurity ions and interference on side reactions. To ensure accurate quantification of ammonia content, these factors must be meticulously considered during experimental design.

S7.1 Strategic optimization of reagent types and stoichiometric ratios

The colorimetric results are closely related to the type and ratios of reagent addition. The presence or absence of specific reagents and the order in which they are added directly determine the accuracy of ammonia quantification. The different colour development effects of the modified indolphenol blue method after varying the addition amounts of each component separately proved that normal colour development results could only be obtained when the calibration test was carried out in accordance with the appropriate ratios (Figure S8).

No			KH	so₅	0 ₅		ution A		Solution B		S	olution C	Photo
NO.	(NH ₄) ₂ 30 ₄	Nd2303	0.6	2.0	NaOH	Salicylic acid Tr	risodium citrat	ate dihydrate Sodium hypochlorite			Sodium ı	nitroferricyanide	Photo
1	٧						٧		۷			V	
2	v	٧					٧		٧			٧	
3	v	٧	۷				٧		۷			V	
4	v	٧		٧			٧		٧			V	
5			٧				٧		٧			٧	
6				٧			٧		٧			V	
7	v	٧	٧						٧			٧	
8	v	٧		٧					٧			v	
9	v	٧	٧				v					٧	(
10	v	V		٧			V					٧	
11	٧	٧	٧				٧		٧				
12	v	V		٧			٧		٧				(
13			٧				V					V	(
14				٧			٧					V	
15			٧		٧							٧	(
16				٧	٧							٧	1 (.
17			٧				٧					٧	
18				٧			v					V	C
19			۷		٧	٧						V	
20				۷	۷	V						V	

Figure S8. The effect of changes in the components of indophenol blue on the color development of the calibration.

S7.2 Investigation of reagent stability

This experiment compared the effects of different storage durations and incubation times of ammonia standard solutions to investigate the reagent stability of ammonia quantification. The reagent demonstrates excellent stability, as evidenced by its negligible impact on the colorimetric detection of ammonia content within a 3-hour timeframe (Figure S9). This m-IB method is validated as a reliable and effective laboratory method for ammonia quantification.



Figure S9. The effect of the storage time of the solution to be tested and its incubation time. A) Impact of varying storage time. B) Corresponding external standard curves and the R^2 and slopes of the obtained curves. C) Impact of varying incubation time. D) Corresponding external standard curves and the R^2 and slopes of the obtained curves.

S7.3 Impact of impurity ions

Considering that the use of sulfide catalysts may introduce a certain amount of sulfide ions contamination, this study conducted verification experiments to assess the impact of sulfide ions on the optimized colorimetric method. Due to the presence of ferrous ions in the sodium nitroprusside catalyst, a characteristic colorimetric reaction occurs with sulfide ions, interfering with the final calibration colorimetric results (reaction S2 and S3). However, there is a certain degree of tolerance for sulfate ion concentrations in the solution. This method can still maintain good calibration performance when the sulfate ion concentration does not exceed 0.006 mol \cdot L⁻¹ (Figure S10).

$$S^{2-}(aq) + Fe^{2+}(aq) \rightarrow FeS(s)$$
(S2)

$$3S^{2-}(aq) + 2Fe^{3+}(aq) \rightarrow Fe_2S_3(s)$$



(S3)

Figure S10. The effects of S^{2-} on the modified indophenol blue method. A) UV-visible absorption spectra obtained using the modified IB method with different concentrations of sulfite ions. B) Corresponding external standard curves and the R^2 and slopes of the obtained curves .

S7.4 Interference on side reactions

The experiment utilized the Watt and Chrisp method to calibrate hydrazine standard solutions. The introduction of sulfite ions exhibits no interference with the detection of hydrazine, enabling accurate quantification of the byproduct hydrazine (Figure S11).



Figure S11. The effects of sulfite on hydrazine quantification. A) UV-visible absorption spectra obtained with sodium sulfite solution (0.06 mol·L⁻¹) as the background using the Watt-Chrisp method. B) Corresponding external standard curves.

References

- Zhao, Y.; Shi, R.; Bian, X.; Zhou, C.; Zhao, Y.; Zhang, S.; Wu, F.; Waterhouse, G. I. N.; Wu, L.-Z.; Tung, C.-H.; Zhang, T. Ammonia Detection Methods in Photocatalytic and Electrocatalytic Experiments: How to Improve the Reliability of NH₃ Production Rates? *Adv. Sci.* 2019, 6 (8), 1802109.
- Qing, G.; Ghazfar, R.; Jackowski, S. T.; Habibzadeh, F.; Ashtiani, M. M.; Chen, C.-P.; Smith, M. R. I.; Hamann, T. W. Recent Advances and Challenges of Electrocatalytic N₂ Reduction to Ammonia. *Chem. Rev.* 2020, *120* (12), 5437–5516.
- (3) Gao, X.; Wen, Y.; Qu, D.; An, L.; Luan, S.; Jiang, W.; Zong, X.; Liu, X.; Sun, Z. Interference Effect of Alcohol on Nessler's Reagent in Photocatalytic Nitrogen Fixation. *ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng.* 2018, 6 (4), 5342–5348.
- (4) Sharma, M.; Kumar, A.; Sajwan, D.; Kumari, K.; Mishra, B. P.; Krishnan, V. Photocatalysis for Sustainable Nitrogen Fixation: Fundamentals, Catalyst Design, Nanoarchitectonics, Applications, and Future Prospects. *Adv. Sustainable Syst. n/a* (n/a), 2400903.
- (5) Hodgetts, R. Y.; Kiryutin, A. S.; Nichols, P.; Du, H.-L.; Bakker, J. M.; Macfarlane, D. R.; Simonov, A. N. Refining Universal Procedures for Ammonium Quantification via Rapid ¹H NMR Analysis for Dinitrogen Reduction Studies. *ACS Energy Lett.* **2020**, *5* (3), 736– 741.
- (6) Kolen, M.; Smith, W. A.; Mulder, F. M. Accelerating ¹H NMR Detection of Aqueous Ammonia. ACS Omega 2021, 6 (8), 5698–5704.
- (7) Kumar, A.; Krishnan, V. Experimental Protocols for Sustainable Ammonia Production by Photocatalytic Nitrogen Fixation: Pitfalls and Remedial Measures. *Adv. Sustainable Syst.* 2024, 8 (9), 2400173.
- (8) Mansingh, S.; Das, K. K.; Sultana, S.; Parida, K. Recent Advances in Wireless Photofixation of Dinitrogen to Ammonia under the Ambient Condition: A Review. J Photoch Photobio C. 2021, 47, 100402.
- (9) Hu, Y.; Wang, D.; Hu, B.; Lan, H.; Zhong, W.; Wang, Q.; Xia, H.; Yao, M.; Chen, M.; Du, M. Ultra-Precise Ruler for Ammonia Nitrogen Quantification in Electrochemical Synthesis Experiments. *Anal. Methods* **2025**, *17* (7), 1493–1502.
- (10)Liang, Y.; Yan, C.; Guo, Q.; Xu, J.; Hu, H. Spectrophotometric Determination of Ammonia Nitrogen in Water by Flow Injection Analysis Based on NH₃- *o*-Phthalaldehyde -Na₂SO₃ Reaction. *Anal. Chem. Res.* 2016, *10*, 1–8.

- (11)Zhao, Y.; Wu, F.; Miao, Y.; Zhou, C.; Xu, N.; Shi, R.; Wu, L.-Z.; Tang, J.; Zhang, T. Revealing Ammonia Quantification Minefield in Photo/Electrocatalysis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2021, 60 (40), 21728–21731.
- (12) Yan, X.; Wu, Y.; Guo, F.; Xiong, J.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, L.; Dai, J.; Hao, G.; Jiang, W.; Di,
 J. Asymmetric CuS₁N₄ as Axial Polarization Site Trigger Rapid Charge Transport Channels for Boosting Photosynthesis of Ammonia. *Adv. Funct. Mater. n/a* (n/a), 2421669.
- (13)Xi, Y.; Xiang, Y.; Bao, T.; Li, Z.; Zhang, C.; Yuan, L.; Li, J.; Bi, Y.; Yu, C.; Liu, C. Nanoarchitectonics of S-Scheme Heterojunction Photocatalysts: A Nanohouse Design Improves Photocatalytic Nitrate Reduction to Ammonia Performance. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2024, *63* (38), e202409163.
- (14)Liu, S.; Wang, M.; Ji, H.; Zhang, L.; Ni, J.; Li, N.; Qian, T.; Yan, C.; Lu, J. Solvent-in-Gas System for Promoted Photocatalytic Ammonia Synthesis on Porous Framework Materials. *Adv. Mater.* **2023**, *35* (14), 2211730.
- (15)Liu, C.; Hao, D.; Ye, J.; Ye, S.; Zhou, F.; Xie, H.; Qin, G.; Xu, J.; Liu, J.; Li, S.; Sun, C. Knowledge-Driven Design and Lab-Based Evaluation of B-Doped TiO₂ Photocatalysts for Ammonia Synthesis. *Adv. Energy Mater.* 2023, *13* (8), 2204126.
- (16) Ajmal, S.; Rasheed, A.; Tran, N. Q.; Shao, X.; Hwang, Y.; Bui, V. Q.; Kim, Y. D.; Kim, J.; Lee, H. Electron Deficient Boron-Doped Amorphous Carbon Nitride to Uphill N₂ Photo-Fixation through π Back Donation. *Appl. Catal.*, B. 2023, 321, 122070.
- (17)Dong, G.; Huang, X.; Bi, Y. Anchoring Black Phosphorus Quantum Dots on Fe-Doped W₁₈O₄₉ Nanowires for Efficient Photocatalytic Nitrogen Fixation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2022, *61* (30), e202204271.
- (18)Hu, B.; Wang, B.-H.; Chen, L.; Bai, Z.-J.; Zhou, W.; Guo, J.-K.; Shen, S.; Xie, T.-L.; Au, C.-T.; Jiang, L.-L.; Yin, S.-F. Electronic Modulation of the Interaction between Fe Single Atoms and WO_{2.72-x} for Photocatalytic N₂ Reduction. *ACS Catal.* 2022, *12* (19), 11860–11869.
- (19)Li, H.; Xia, M.; Chong, B.; Xiao, H.; Zhang, B.; Lin, B.; Yang, B.; Yang, G. Boosting Photocatalytic Nitrogen Fixation via Constructing Low-Oxidation-State Active Sites in the Nanoconfined Spinel Iron Cobalt Oxide. ACS Catal. 2022, 12 (16), 10361–10372.
- (20)Zhao, Z.; Ren, H.; Shi, Y.; Tan, J.; Xin, X.; Yang, D.; Jiang, Z. Active Site Engineering in Heterovalent Metal Organic Frameworks for Photocatalytic Ammonia Synthesis. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2022, 443, 136559.

- (21)Zhang, S.; Zhao, Y.; Shi, R.; Zhou, C.; Waterhouse, G. I. N.; Wang, Z.; Weng, Y.; Zhang, T. Sub-3 Nm Ultrafine Cu₂O for Visible Light Driven Nitrogen Fixation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2021, 60 (5), 2554–2560.
- (22)Nielander, A. C.; McEnaney, J. M.; Schwalbe, J. A.; Baker, J. G.; Blair, S. J.; Wang, L.; Pelton, J. G.; Andersen, S. Z.; Enemark-Rasmussen, K.; Čolić, V.; Yang, S.; Bent, S. F.; Cargnello, M.; Kibsgaard, J.; Vesborg, P. C. K.; Chorkendorff, I.; Jaramillo, T. F. A Versatile Method for Ammonia Detection in a Range of Relevant Electrolytes via Direct Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Techniques. *ACS Catal.* 2019, *9* (7), 5797–5802.
- (23)Assafiri, A.; Jia, C.; Thomas, D. S.; Hibbert, D. B.; Zhao, C. Fast and Sensitive Detection of Ammonia from Electrochemical Nitrogen Reduction Reactions by ¹H NMR with Radiation Damping. *Small Methods* 2024, 8 (8), 2301373.
- (24)Smita Biswas, S.; Chakraborty, S.; Saha, A.; Eswaramoorthy, M. Electrochemical Nitrogen Reduction to Ammonia Under Ambient Conditions: Stakes and Challenges. *Chem Rec.* 2022, 22 (11), e202200139.
- (25)Fernandez, C. A.; Hortance, N. M.; Liu, Y.-H.; Lim, J.; Hatzell, K. B.; Hatzell, M. C. Opportunities for Intermediate Temperature Renewable Ammonia Electrosynthesis. J. Mater. Chem. A 2020, 8 (31), 15591–15606.
- (26)Nazemi, M.; El-Sayed, M. A. Plasmon-Enhanced Photo(Electro)Chemical Nitrogen Fixation under Ambient Conditions Using Visible Light Responsive Hybrid Hollow Au-Ag₂O Nanocages. *Nano Energy* 2019, 63, 103886.
- (27)Zhang, N.; Jalil, A.; Wu, D.; Chen, S.; Liu, Y.; Gao, C.; Ye, W.; Qi, Z.; Ju, H.; Wang, C.; Wu, X.; Song, L.; Zhu, J.; Xiong, Y. Refining Defect States in W₁₈O₄₉ by Mo Doping: A Strategy for Tuning N₂ Activation towards Solar-Driven Nitrogen Fixation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2018, *140* (30), 9434–9443.
- (28) Andersen, S. Z.; Čolić, V.; Yang, S.; Schwalbe, J. A.; Nielander, A. C.; McEnaney, J. M.; Enemark-Rasmussen, K.; Baker, J. G.; Singh, A. R.; Rohr, B. A.; Statt, M. J.; Blair, S. J.; Mezzavilla, S.; Kibsgaard, J.; Vesborg, P. C. K.; Cargnello, M.; Bent, S. F.; Jaramillo, T. F.; Stephens, I. E. L.; Nørskov, J. K.; Chorkendorff, I. A Rigorous Electrochemical Ammonia Synthesis Protocol with Quantitative Isotope Measurements. *Nature* 2019, *570* (7762), 504–508.
- (29)Chen, S.; Liu, D.; Peng, T. Fundamentals and Recent Progress of Photocatalytic Nitrogen-Fixation Reaction over Semiconductors. *Solar RRL* **2021**, *5* (2), 2000487.
- (30)Liu, H. Ammonia Synthesis Catalyst 100 Years: Practice, Enlightenment and Challenge. *Chinese J. Catal.* **2014**, *35* (10), 1619–1640.

- (31)Duan, G. Y.; Ren, Y.; Tang, Y.; Sun, Y. Z.; Chen, Y. M.; Wan, P. Y.; Yang, X. J. Improving the Reliability and Accuracy of Ammonia Quantification in Electro- and Photochemical Synthesis. *ChemSusChem* 2020, *13* (1), 88–96.
- (32)Jeong, H.; Park, J.; Kim, H. Determination of NH4⁺ in Environmental Water with Interfering Substances Using the Modified Nessler Method. *Journal of Chemistry* 2013, 2013 (1), 359217.
- (33) Varghese, A. P.; Neppolian, B.; Lakhera, S. K. Pitfalls of Using Nessler's Reagent for Ammonia Detection in Photocatalytic Nitrogen Fixation Studies: Leveraging ¹H NMR for Enhanced Accuracy and Precision. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2023, 62 (32), 12530–12537.
- (34)Liu, Q.; Yuan, J.; Gan, Z.; Liu, C.; Li, J.; Liang, Y.; Chen, R. Photocatalytic N2 Reduction: Uncertainties in the Determination of Ammonia Production. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 2021, 9 (1), 560–568.
- (35)Bragulla, S. C. H.; Lorenz, J.; Harms, C.; Wark, M.; Friedrich, K. A. Application of Ion Chromatography for the Reliable Quantification of Ammonium in Electrochemical Ammonia Synthesis Experiments: A Practical Guide. *ChemSusChem* 2023, *16* (13), e202202211.
- (36)Zhang, Y.; Yin, S.; Li, H.; Liu, J.; Li, S.; Zhang, L. Treatment of Ammonia-nitrogen Wastewater by the Ultrasonic Strengthened Break Point Chlorination Method. J. Water Process. Eng. 2022, 45, 102501.
- (37)Liu, W.; Andrews, S. A.; Stefan, M. I.; Bolton, J. R. Optimal Methods for Quenching H₂O₂ Residuals Prior to UFC Testing. *Water Research* 2003, *37* (15), 3697–3703.
- (38)D.R. Lide, W.M.M. Haynes, CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, CRC Press Incorporated, 1996.
- (39) W.V. Steele, E.H. Appelman, J. Chem. Thermodyn. 1982, 14, 337.